NO. 22-CV-0005



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 06/09/2022 11:59 AM Filed 06/09/2022 11:59 AM

NEW PENN FINANCIAL, LLC D/B/A SHELLPOINT MORTGAGE SERVICING,

Appellant,

v.

LASHAN DANIELS; TYROSHI INVESTMENTS, LLC; AND BRANDYWINE CROSSING I CONDOMINIUM,

Appellees.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court 2016 CA 002755 R(RP)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT NEW PENN FINANCIAL, LLC D/B/A SHELLPOINT MORTGAGE SERVICING

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from a final judgment disposing of all claims between the parties. The trial court had jurisdiction over this case under D.C. Code § 11-921. On August 2, 2021, the trial court sua sponte entered a "Corrective and Omnibus Order" entering summary judgment in favor of the appellees on all claims. AA297–311. Appellant New Penn Financial, LLC d/b/a Shellpoint Mortgage Servicing ("Shellpoint") timely filed a motion to alter or amend the order on August 30, 2021, AA312–20, and the court entered an order denying that motion on December 6, 2021. AA331–37. On January 5, 2022, Shellpoint timely filed this appeal from the December 6, 2021 final order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Honorable Robert R. Rigsby). AA338–39.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court violated Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(f) by sua sponte entering summary judgment in favor of non-moving parties and on issues not raised by any party without allowing Shellpoint a meaningful opportunity to conduct discovery, present its evidence, or submit briefing on the relevant issues?

2. Whether the trial court erred in holding that Shellpoint could not establish any set of facts that the condominium association foreclosure sale at issue (the "COA Sale") should be set aside on equitable grounds of fraud, oppression, and unfairness?

1

3. Whether the notice provision of the District of Columbia's applicable version of the since-amended nonjudicial foreclosure statute for condominium associations, codified at D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 (1992) (the "COA Statute"),¹ is facially unconstitutional because it allowed extinguishment of prior-recorded first mortgage liens without requiring notice of the foreclosure sale to those lienholders or providing compensation for the taking?

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

The full text of the relevant COA Statute appears in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal raises the question of whether a condominium owners' association ("COA") sale should be set aside on equitable grounds because the foreclosing trustee affirmatively misrepresented to all involved parties that the condominium was being sold subject to Shellpoint's prior-recorded first deed of trust securing an original principal balance of \$204,000.00 (the "Deed of Trust"), resulting in a sale price of \$5,000.00 (less than four percent of its tax-assessed value).

¹ Although the COA Statute has been amended several times, the 1992 version of the COA Statute was in effect at the time that the COA mailed the applicable notices of sale. *See* D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 (1992). The COA Statute was amended on June 21, 2014—three days before the COA Sale at issue, *see* AA091—but the substantive notice provisions remained the same in both versions. *Compare* D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(4) (1992) with D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(4) (2014). For purposes of this brief, any references to the COA Statute refers to the 1992 version in effect when the applicable notices were sent.

This appeal also raises issues regarding the trial court's erroneous sua sponte entry of summary judgment in favor of appellees in violation of Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(f) and whether the 1992 COA foreclosure statute then in effect is unconstitutional under either the Due Process Clause or the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

The underlying action involves a judicial foreclosure sale initiated by Shellpoint and a request for declaratory judgment regarding the effect of the COA Sale on Shellpoint's prior-recorded Deed of Trust. Tyroshi Investments, LLC ("Tyroshi"), the purchaser of the property at the COA Sale, contends that it received free-and-clear title because, under District of Columbia law, properly conducted COA foreclosure sales may in some instances extinguish other liens, including firstpriority deeds of trust, notwithstanding that Brandywine advertised that the COA Sale was being conducted—and the subject condominium was being sold—subject to Shellpoint's Deed of Trust.

However, before any meaningful discovery was conducted, and without notice or an opportunity to fully brief the issues, Judge Rigsby sua sponte entered summary judgment in favor of Brandywine and Tyroshi notwithstanding that discovery remained to be conducted, no summary judgment motion was pending, and Brandywine's prior motion for summary judgment addressed only one of the two bases supporting Shellpoint's claims. The trial court held that the COA Sale could not be set aside on equitable grounds solely because the purchase price, as measured by this Court's decision in *RFB Properties II, LLC v. Deutsche Bank Tr. Co. Americas, as Tr. for Residential Accredit Loan, Inc. Mortg. Asset-Backed Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2005-QA8*, 247 A.3d 689, 696–97 (D.C. 2021), was the price paid at the COA Sale. Thus, the trial court reasoned, the purported fair market value (as measured by *RFB Properties II*) was dispositive without regard to any other factors warranting setting aside the sale. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background of the Mortgage Loan and COA Sale

This case involves the Deed of Trust securing a \$204,000.00 promissory note (the "Note", together with the "Deed of Trust," the "Loan") on the condominium unit located at 713 Brandywine St. SE, Unit 202, Washington, DC 20032-3568 (the "Property"). AA088–108. The Deed of Trust, recorded on June 14, 2007, lists Lashan D. Daniels as the borrower, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. as the lender, and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as beneficiary. AA090. On June 5, 2012, MERS recorded an assignment of the Deed of Trust to Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP f/k/a Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP ("BANA"). AA178–79. BANA recorded an assignment of the Deed of Trust to Shellpoint on August 18, 2015. AA109–10.

On April 28, 2010, Brandywine recorded a Notice of Condominium Lien for Assessments Due against the Property in the amount of \$6,425.73. AA169–70. Brandywine recorded a second Notice of Condominium Lien for Assessments Due on June 24, 2011, stating that the lien consisted of \$5,455.00 for amounts owed to Brandywine by Daniels. AA172–73. On May 22, 2014, Brandywine recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale stating that the Property would be sold at public sale on June 24, 2014. AA174. According to a Trustee's Deed recorded on September 15, 2015, Brandywine foreclosed on its lien on June 24, 2014, selling the Property to Tyroshi for \$5,000.00 (the "COA Sale"). AA199–200. Brandywine represented to all involved, and the Trustee's Deed stated, that the Property was being sold "subject to the balance on a first deed of trust in the face amount of \$204,000.00." AA199.

B. Procedural History

On April 12, 2016, Shellpoint filed a complaint for judicial foreclosure of the Property pursuant to the Deed of Trust. AA009–69. Shellpoint filed its operative Second Amended Complaint on September 25, 2018 to include claims for declaratory judgment against Brandywine and Tyroshi, seeking therein a declaration that the Deed of Trust was not extinguished by the COA Sale. AA070–135. Specifically, Shellpoint alleged that the COA Sale could not extinguish the Deed of Trust because the COA Sale was not properly noticed under D.C. law and because Brandywine misrepresented that the Property was being sold subject to the Deed of Trust. AA078–82. A default was initially entered against Tyroshi for failing to answer the Second Amended Complaint, but the trial court vacated the default on March 23, 2018. *See* Trial Ct. Dkt. Entry (March 23, 2018).

On March 11, 2019, Brandywine filed a Motion to Dismiss, or in the alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment. As relevant here, Brandywine argued that it properly noticed the COA Sale in accordance with D.C. law because the COA Statute only mandated notice to the Property owner and the mayor of the District of Columbia, but did not mandate notice to other lienholders whose property interests could be extinguished by the COA Sale. AA162-63. Brandywine did not address Shellpoint's alternative claim that the COA Sale should be set aside due to Brandywine's misrepresentations that the Property was being sold subject to the Deed of Trust. See AA159-63. On July 12, 2019, the trial court entered an order granting Brandywine's motion in part and denying it in part. AA238-46. Specifically, the trial court granted the motion to dismiss as to the allegations of deficient notice because the COA Statute did not mandate notices to lienholders, but denied the motion as to Shellpoint's claim that the COA Sale should be set aside on equitable grounds due to misrepresentations by Brandywine. Id. Brandywine filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint on September 3, 2019. AA247–54.

On March 5, 2020, the trial court granted the parties' consent motion to extend the scheduling order to reflect a discovery deadline of May 4, 2020, and a dispositive motion deadline of June 2, 2020. AA261. The parties' joint motion reflected that Shellpoint intended to conduct depositions of both Brandywine and Tyroshi. AA256. Tyroshi's counsel moved to withdraw as counsel on May 1, 2020, *see* Trial Ct. Dkt. Entry (May 1, 2020), and the court entered an order permitting the withdrawal on July 20, 2020. *See* Trial Ct. Dkt. Entry (July 20, 2020).

As the Court is well aware, the country began to shut down in March 2020 amidst the throes of a global pandemic caused by COVID-19. Shortly thereafter, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") in March 2020. The CARES Act provided that, except with respect to a vacant or abandoned property, a servicer could not initiate any judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure process, move for a foreclosure judgment or order of sale, or execute a foreclosure-related eviction or foreclosure sale from March 18, 2020 through at least May 16, 2020 on any federally related mortgage loan. *See* Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 281, 286 (2020). The relevant federal housing agencies announced continuing foreclosure moratoriums throughout the pandemic, the latest extension of which expired on July 31, 2021.

Shortly after the passage of the CARES Act, the Council of the District of Columbia unanimously passed temporary legislation entitled the Coronavirus Support Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2020 (the "Emergency Act") on June 8, 2020. *See* Emergency Act, D.C. Act 23-328, 67 D.C. Reg. 7598 (June 8, 2020), *available at* https://code.dccouncil.us/us/dc/council/ acts/23-328. Among other things, Section 408 of the Emergency Act implemented a foreclosure moratorium prohibiting residential foreclosures from "be[ing] initiated or conducted" during the state of emergency and for sixty days thereafter. *See id.* The public health emergency was terminated effective July 25, 2021. D.C. Mayor's Order 2021-096 (July 25, 2021), *available at https://coronavirus.dc.gov/sites/ default/files/dc/sites/coronavirus/page_content/attachments/Mayors-Order-2021-096.pdf.* Therefore, under District of Columbia law, the foreclosure moratorium expired on September 23, 2021.

During the pendency of the foreclosure moratoria, the trial court held two status conferences to determine how to move the case forward. The first status conference occurred on November 3, 2020, during which time the parties stated that the court had given Tyroshi until September 20, 2020 to obtain new counsel, and Tyroshi had failed to do so. AA264:19–265:13. After Tyroshi failed to obtain new counsel, the trial court entered a default against Tyroshi on February 5, 2021. *See* Trial Ct. Dkt. Entry (Feb. 5, 2021). On April 9, 2021, the trial court held another status conference during which Tyroshi's counsel appeared and sought to set aside the default against Tyroshi. AA271–87. The court noted that the dispositive deadline had passed without any further dispositive motions from the parties and that "for

[Shellpoint] to file a dispositive motion against an unrepresented LLC [Tyroshi] would not have served any particular purpose." AA285:9–13. Shellpoint's counsel also indicated that the litigation had been delayed because of a prior bankruptcy filing by Daniels and then the foreclosure moratorium implemented as a result of COVID-19, and the court recognized that the moratorium was scheduled to end in July 2021. AA281:15–282:3. The court indicated that it would schedule an additional hearing for August 6, 2021 to determine how to move the case forward. AA282:4–11. The court also directed the parties to submit briefing on setting aside the default, and the parties could subsequently submit a proposal for "a schedule or motions" following resolution of the default against Tyroshi. AA286:16–17.

Following the April 9, 2021 hearing, the parties submitted additional briefing regarding the default against Tyroshi. On June 21, 2021, Daniels filed a motion to dismiss her as a party because she had been evicted from the Property following the COA Sale and no longer possessed any interest in the Property. AA290–91. On August 2, 2021 (prior to the anticipated August 6, 2021 status conference), the trial court entered a "Corrective and Omnibus Order" (hereafter the "Omnibus Order") granting Daniels' motion to dismiss, vacating the default against Tyroshi, and entering summary judgment in favor of Brandywine and Tyroshi. The Omnibus Order awarded summary judgment in favor of Tyroshi and Brandywine without either party having a dispositive motion pending, and without prior notice or an

opportunity for Shellpoint to meaningfully brief the issues or present its evidence. AA297–311.

Although Brandywine previously filed a motion to dismiss, or alternatively, for summary judgment in March 2019 "with respect to all claims asserted against … Brandywine," Brandywine raised only two arguments: (1) all of Shellpoint's claims were barred by the statute of limitations (which the trial court rejected), and (2) Shellpoint failed to state a claim for Count II by alleging insufficient notice of the COA Sale because the COA Statute did not require notice to first lienholders. AA159–63. Brandywine did not address Count III (aside from the statute of limitations argument rejected by the trial court), which alleged that the COA Sale should be set aside on equitable grounds due to material misrepresentations regarding the title being conveyed. *See id.*; AA081–82. Brandywine did not file any further dispositive motions after filing its Answer to the Second Amended Complaint on September 3, 2019. *See* AA247–54.

Shellpoint filed a motion to alter or amend the Omnibus Order on August 30, 2021, arguing that the Omnibus Order improperly granted summary judgment in favor of Tyroshi and the COA in favor of a non-moving party on grounds not requested without any advance notice and a reasonable opportunity for Shellpoint to respond. AA312–19. On December 6, 2021, the court entered an order denying Shellpoint's motion to alter or amend. AA331–37. The court held that, to the extent

any notice and opportunity to respond should have been afforded to Shellpoint, any procedural error "must be counted as harmless against [Shellpoint]" because the record was "very well developed" in the case, AA332, notwithstanding the fact that (1) Tyroshi had only recently begun participating in the litigation, and (2) the court had envisioned additional deadlines at the April 9, 2021 status conference following an appearance by Tyroshi's counsel. The court also did not address the fact that Brandywine only submitted evidence and argument pertaining to one of two claims asserted by Shellpoint against Brandywine in its initial motion for summary judgment, *see* AA078–82, AA159–63. Shellpoint noticed this appeal on January 5, 2022. AA338–39.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are multiple grounds for this Court to reverse the district court's grant of summary judgment in the COA and Tyroshi's favor. While this Court's decisions in *Chase Plaza Condominium Association, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.* and its progeny have decided some of the issues raised in the recent wave of litigation over the mortgage-extinguishing power of COA liens under the COA Statute, several important and dispositive issues remain. Just as importantly, procedural errors underlying the lower court's decision require reversal of summary judgment.

First, the trial court prematurely and sua sponte entered summary judgment in favor of the COA and Tyroshi without prior notice or an opportunity for Shellpoint

(or any other party) to adequately present their arguments. This Court should reverse the trial court's entry of summary judgment on these procedural defects alone.

But even if the Court were to consider the merits, the trial court erred by analyzing unconscionability solely on the purported fair market value as defined by *RFB Properties II*—the price paid at the COA Sale—without regard to any other factors warranting setting aside the sale.² In so doing, the trial court ignored equitable factors other than sales price, such as misrepresentations regarding the title being conveyed, that would warrant setting aside the COA Sale.

Finally, the COA Statute violates the Due Process Clause and the Takings Clause of the United States Constitution by appropriating a lender's property interest for a public good without notice and without just compensation. For that additional reason, the Court should find that the Deed of Trust survived the COA Sale.

For all of these reasons, the trial court's judgment should be reversed.

² Shellpoint also submits that *RFB Properties II*, 247 A.3d at 692, the case upon which the district court relied in determining the unconscionability of the purchase price, delineates an improper test for fair market value rooted in the parties' mistaken beliefs rather than the circumstances as they existed at the time of the sale. As Shellpoint and the Court are aware, this panel is not empowered to overturn this Court's past precedents. *See M.A.P. v. Ryan*, 285 A.2d 310, 312 (D.C. 1971) ("[N]o division of this court will overrule a prior decision of this court," as "such result can only be accomplished by this court en banc."). Nonetheless, Shellpoint submits that *RFB Properties II* was wrongly decided for purposes of preserving this issue for future en banc review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews both orders granting summary judgment and issues of statutory interpretation de novo. *District of Columbia v. Place*, 892 A.2d 1108, 1110–11 (D.C. 2006). "Summary judgment is only appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Ward v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 89 A.3d 115, 126 (D.C. 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted). "In considering summary judgment, [the Court] views the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving [parties]." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Improperly Denied Shellpoint an Opportunity to Present Its Evidence or Arguments Before Entering Summary Judgment in Favor of the Appellees.

The trial court's judgment should be set aside on procedural grounds alone due to the premature and procedurally deficient disposition of this case. Summary judgment should be entered only when the trial court has afforded the parties an opportunity to present their evidence and argument on the issues at play. In this case, the trial court entered a sua sponte summary judgment order despite knowledge that discovery was ongoing, additional discovery had been conducted since Brandywine's initial motion for summary judgment had been filed, and discovery in this matter had been impeded by Tyroshi's failure to participate in the litigation and foreclosure moratoria imposed by COVID-19. As a result, the trial court's deprivation of Shellpoint's opportunity to present either arguments or evidence violated Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 56, and by extension, Shellpoint's right to procedural due process. This decision alone constitutes reversible error.

When a trial court sua sponte grants summary judgment to a party, as the court did in this case, the non-moving party is "entitled to prior notice and an opportunity to oppose that course of action." *Tobin v. John Grotta Co.*, 886 A.2d 87, 91 (D.C. 2005). Rule 56(f) confirms as much:

After giving notice and a reasonable time to respond, the court may: (1) grant summary judgment for a nonmovant; (2) grant the motion on grounds not raised by a party; or (3) consider summary judgment on its own after identifying for the parties material facts that may not be genuinely in dispute.

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