#### NO. 22-CV-0005



Clerk of the Court Received 08/08/2022 10:28 PM Filed 08/08/2022 10:28 PM

# NEW PENN FINANCIAL, LLC D/B/A SHELLPOINT MORTGAGE SERVICING,

Appellant,

v.

# LASHAN DANIELS; TYROSHI INVESTMENTS, LLC; AND BRANDYWINE CROSSING I CONDOMINIUM,

Appellees.

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court 2016 CA 002755 R(RP) (Honorable Robert Rigsby)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE TYROSHI INVESTMENTS, LLC

August 8, 2022

Tracy L. Buck (Bar No. 1021540)
OFFIT KURMAN
1325 G Street NW, Suite 500
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 393-8100
(202) 393-2104

ithomas@offitkurman.com tracy.buck@offitkurman.com

\*Ian G. Thomas (Bar No.1021680)

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

III. THE CONDO STATUTE WAS AT ALL RELEVANT TIMES CONSTITUTIONAL

There are no constitutional issues with Condo Statute or the manner in which the foreclosure was conducted. While Shellpoint claims the Condo Statute violates both the Due Process Clause and the Takings Clause, its position is legally wrong for several reasons. At the outset, Shellpoint ignores the complete absence of any state action which prevents any constitutional issue from being implicated in the first place. But even if Shellpoint's position is considered, its merits are equally flawed. The Condo Statute not only satisfies constitutional notice requirements, but in this case, Brandywine went beyond its statutory notice obligations and sent Shellpoint actual notice of the Condo Sale, twice. Shellpoint's takings argument suffers a similar infirmity in that Shellpoint did not take any steps necessary to preserve its lien in advance of the Condo Sale, and thus, any deprivation of its property interest was not due to a constitutional taking but instead was the result of its failure to protect its lien.

A. <u>Due Process is Neither Implicated Nor Violated from Brandywine's Conduct.</u>

Shellpoint's due process challenge fails because there is no state action involved in the Condo Sale and Brandywine provided notice necessary to comport with the constitution. It is axiomatic that the Due Process Clause – like all constitutional rights – protects individuals from state actions that deprive them of their life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. To violate due process, the constitutional deprivation must derive from state

action. *Harris v. Northbrook Condominium II*, 44 A.3d 293, 298 (D.C. 2012). The Supreme Court has created a two-part test to determine whether the deprivation of a property interest resulted from a state action, whereby: (1) "the deprivation [was] caused by the exercise of some right or privilege created by the State" and (2) "the party charged with the deprivation [is] a person who may fairly be said to be a state actor." *Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co.*, 457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982). Shellpoint cannot establish both elements of the *Lugar* test.

While there is no dispute that Shellpoint was deprived of its lien by virtue of a statutory super-priority lien created by the District of Columbia Council, that is only half of the equation. The second requisite element of the Lugar test is not present, because neither Brandywine nor Tyroshi is a state actor. Whether the alleged unconstitutional conduct is attributable to a state actor begins with identifying "the specific conduct of which the plaintiff complains." See Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991, 1004 (1982). In circumstances that deal with purely private parties, the Court looks to whether the private entity's actions are "fairly attributable to the State." Am. Mfrs. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Sullivan, 526 U.S. 40, 52 (1999). However, a private party's action, "without something more, [is] not sufficient to justify a characterization of that party as a 'state actor'" and the mere enactment of a statute is not enough to constitute "coercive power" or "significant encouragement" by the state. See Lugar, 457 U.S. at 939 (emphasis added); Am. Mfrs., 526 U.S. at 52 (a private entity's acts with "mere approval or acquiescence of the State is not state action.").

With the above in mind, the Supreme Court has held that a private party's right to pursue debt collection through a statutory power of sale does not constitute state action. See Flagg Bros., Inc. v. Brooks, 436 U.S. 149, 160 (1978). District of Columbia courts have uniformly deferred to the Supreme Court ruling in *Flagg Bros*. to hold that mortgage foreclosure proceedings lack significant state action to uphold constitutional challenges. See, e.g., Pappas v. Eastern Sav. Bank, FSB, 911 A.2d 1230, 1237 (D.C. 2006) (holding that a power-of-sale clause in a deed of trust for private debt collection by a mortgage foreclosure did not constitute state action); Bryant v. Jefferson Fed. Savings & Loan Ass'n, 509 F.2d 511, 513-515 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (rejecting a constitutional challenge to now D.C. Code § 42-815 (2001), the non-judicial mortgage foreclosure statute, because there was "no significant government involvement" in the foreclosure proceedings). The Condo Sale lacks significant enough state action to implicate the constitution.

The state's role in the Condo Sale also does not exist beyond its creation of the statutory right to foreclose. The Condo Statute itself does not mandate that an association foreclose on its lien, rather, the decision to enforce a lien rest solely in the discretion of the association, a private actor. *See* D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c). An association can select to foreclose on either the super-priority portion of its lien

or the entirety of the condo lien, both of which could extinguish a lender's security interest. *Id.* An association can also choose to foreclose on its junior portion of the lien, which would result in a lender's lien remaining intact. See id.; see also Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014) (the Condo Statute effectively splits the association's lien into liens of differing priority). Because the decision to foreclose and potentially extinguish a lender's interest lies solely with the association, and not with any state actor, the statutory right to foreclose can be considered no more than "subtle encouragement" by the state. Cf. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 200 F.Supp.3d 1141, 1159 (D.Nev. 2016) (finding no state action within its respective HOA lien statute when the statute similarly allowed, rather than required, the HOA to foreclose on its super-priority lien); Saticov Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, a Division of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 133 Nev. 28 (2017) (holding that the mere enactment of an HOA lien statute does not implicate due process unless there is "some additional showing" that the state compelled the HOA to foreclose on its lien or that the state was involved with the sale).<sup>11</sup>

\_

Tyroshi concedes that the caselaw from Nevada's court system is not binding precedent for this jurisdiction. However, the Nevada courts' analysis of their HOA lien statute can be guiding caselaw in this very instance because the HOA lien statute in Nevada mirrors that of the Condo Statute. Under NRS 116.3116, a condominium association maintains a lien for outstanding assessments owed, but the most recent 9 months (rather than 6 months under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)) of assessments take superior priority to that of a first mortgage or deed of trust.

Brandywine's voluntary choice to enforce a statutory right to foreclose cannot be attributed to any state actor.

Other jurisdictions have similarly held that a private party's statutory right to foreclose did not involve state action to implicate due process. See Charmicor v. Deaner, 572 F.2d 694, 695-96 (9th Cir. 1978) (finding that Nevada's statutory source for a power of sale does not, absent more, transform a private, non-judicial foreclosure into state action); Apao v. Bank of New York, 324 F.3d 1091, 1095 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding that "overt official involvement' in the enforcement of creditors' remedies" is required for state action to exist); Levine v. Stein, 560 F.2d 1175, 1176 (4th Cir. 1977) (declining to find state action within Virginia's nonjudicial foreclosure procedures because the statute merely creates the power of sale and does not require intervention of any court or judicial officer during the auction process); Northrip v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n, 527 F.2d 23, 28-29 (6th Cir. 1975) (finding a private entity's statutory power of sale to be "simply permissive" rather than to "suggest encouragement" by the state, even when a sheriff conducted the auction). The state's involvement in the Condo Sale here is lacking. Absent a showing of significant state intervention in the foreclosure process, Brandywine's conduct cannot be attributed to the state.

However, even assuming *arguendo* that there was state action, there are no issues with notice, in either this particular transaction or in the statute in general.

The elementary precondition to due process is that notice is "reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950). The constitutional notice requirement is satisfied, at bare minimum, when notice is sent "by mail or other means as to ensure actual notice." *Malone v. Robinson*, 614 A.2d 33, 37 (D.C. 1992). To provide notice to a mortgagee whose interest is publicly recorded, and reasonably identifiable, due process is satisfied if notice of the proceeding impacting their interest is "mailed to the mortgagee's last known available address, or by personal Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791, 798 (1983). service." Brandywine exceeded its notice obligation to Shellpoint here by sending notice of the Condo Sale to Shellpoint by certified mail twice – on May 5, 2014 and May 27, 2014. AA181-197 (providing copies of the mailed envelopes and the signed green cards confirming receipt of certified mail); AA133 (the Notice of Foreclosure was sent to the Borrower "and all interested parties"). Shellpoint had over seven weeks from receipt of its first notice of the Condo Sale to preserve its lien, yet it did nothing.

Shellpoint's inaction directly undermines its constitutional claims. <sup>12</sup> This Court has acknowledged that a lender, such as Shellpoint, should take proactive steps

Perhaps most problematic about Shellpoint's constitutional argument is its complete omission of the fact that it received direct notice of the Condo Sale on at least two separate occasions.

to protect its lien "either by requiring payment of assessments into an escrow account or by paying assessments themselves to prevent foreclosure." *Chase Plaza*, 98 A.3d at 175. Put another way, there are a myriad of options through which Shellpoint could have protected itself under the Condo Statute, either by proactively setting money aside to protect against any potential default on condominium assessments, or by stepping in once written notice of the non-payment is received. Shellpoint did neither and the result, the loss of its lien, is not a constitutional problem; but rather, one of Shellpoint's own making.

Putting aside Shellpoint's own shortcomings, even if this Court were to scrutinize the notice aspect of the Condo Statute on its face, as Shellpoint requests, the constitutional challenge still fails. Generally, "facial challenges to the constitutionality of a statute impose a heavy burden on the parties and rarely succeed." *Plummer v. U.S.*, 983 A.2d 323 (D.C. 2009). This is so because a facial challenge will only succeed by "establish[ing] that no set of circumstances exists under which the[a]ct would be valid,' *i.e.*, that the law is unconstitutional in all of its applications." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987)) (cleaned up). To do so, Shellpoint must demonstrate that the terms of the statute itself contain a "constitutional infirmity that invalidates the statute in its entirety." *Conley v. U.S.*, 79 A.3d 270, 277 (D.C. 2013) (internal citation omitted).

The only aspect of the Condo Statute that Shellpoint is challenging is the fact that at the time of the Condo Sale, the version of the statute that was then in effect did not explicitly mandate notice of the sale be given to junior lienholders if an association enforced its super-priority lien. *See* App. Br. at 35.<sup>13</sup> However, Shellpoint halts its analysis of the notice requirements there, and in doing so, fails to consider the entirety of the Condo Statute. *See Grayson v. AT & T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 238 (D.C. 2011) (statutory interpretation requires consideration of all its text, giving effect to all of the statute's provisions); *see also Tillery v. United States*, 238 A.3d 961, 969 (2020) (when considering a facial constitutional challenge, the statute must be considered "in all its applications"). If the complete Condo Statute is considered, due process is plainly satisfied.

The Condo Statute has always required that a condominium association provide multiple forms of public notice. The Condo Statute requires that the notice of foreclosure be recorded amongst the District of Columbia land records, placing the public at large on notice of the *in rem* action. *Frassetto v. Barry*, 497 A.2d 109, 113 (D.C. 1985) (recordation of notice is an equally significant notice requirement to notify the public of a sale in the event that all other notice fails (personal notice and public advertising)). Beyond record notice, the Condo Statute provides that:

The Condo Statute has always required that notice be sent to the unit owner and the Mayor or the Mayor's designated agent at least 30 days before the sale. D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(4).

The executive board shall give public notice of the foreclosure sale by advertisement in at least 1 newspaper of general circulation in the District of Columbia and by any other means the executive board deems necessary and appropriate to give notice of sale.

D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(5) (emphasis added). The language "by any other means... to give notice of sale" indicates that notice can be given to the public by other means or to other individuals impacted by the sale. Indeed, it is (and was at the time of the Condo Sale) a foreclosure industry practice to send notice to all lienholders of record who could be impacted by the auction, as Brandywine did here.<sup>14</sup> AA133 (the Notice of Foreclosure was sent to the Borrower "and all interested parties"); AA181-197. This Court cannot view the Condo Statute's notice requirements of subsection (c)(4) in a vacuum, but rather, must read in conjunction with subsection (c)(5), which permits additional notice to all interested parties. Thomas v. Buckley, 176 A.3d 1277, fn. 12 (D.C. 2017) (confirming that for notice to be proper, the requirements under subsections (c)(4) and (5) must be complied with). The Condo Statute's notice requirements are not as narrow and confined to solely subsection (c)(4) as Shellpoint suggests.

Condominium associations would typically send notice to all junior lienholders, as it was well-settled that those individuals would be impacted by any foreclosure sale. See Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014) (A general principle of foreclosure law is that lower priority liens are extinguished by a valid foreclosure sale if the auction yields proceeds insufficient to satisfy higher-priority liens.). Indeed, in the Chase Plaza case, the Court recognized that the Chase Plaza association similarly sent notice to all lienholders of record. Id. at fn. 7.

To the extent that this Court were to deem the language "by any other means... necessary and appropriate to give notice of sale" to be ambiguous, the canon of constitutional avoidance guides our interpretation of this language. If statutory language is ambiguous when pitted against the Constitution, the Court is to apply the principle of constitutional avoidance to interpret such language "to avoid serious constitutional doubts." *Mack v. U.S.*, 6 A.3d 1224, 1233-34 (D.C. 2010). As applied here, this Court should interpret "by any other means" to mean that an association could provide notice of sale in a manner that will provide notice to all those interested parties impacted by the auction. *See* D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(5). Such an interpretation avoids constitutional confrontation and is a reasonable reading in light of common law foreclosure principles. *See supra* at n. 3.<sup>15</sup>

# B. The Takings Clause is Neither Implicated nor Violated

Shellpoint's takings arguments fail because the Condo Statute does not constitute a regulatory taking nor is its creation of a super-priority lien for a public

Of final note, the facial constitutional challenge to the former version of the Condo Statute is moot. Shellpoint acknowledges that in 2017, the legislature amended the Condo Statute to expressly require notice of a foreclosure sale be sent to all junior lienholders of record, including any holder of a first deed of trust or mortgage. *See* App. Br. at p. 42; D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(4)(E). Contrary to Shellpoint's editorializing, in amending the Condo Statute the legislature did not concede that its prior version of the statute was unconstitutional; but rather, expounded upon, *inter alia*, notice requirements for a sale. The legislature continues to update the Condo Statute as recently as February 2022 to clarify condominium foreclosure proceedings.

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